
Resources
Legal and Democratic Services  The Lonsdale Building  The Courts  Carlisle

Cumbria  CA3 8NA  Fax 01228 226372
Tel 01228 606060  Email democratic.services@cumbria.gov.uk

5 February 2015

To:  The Chair and Members of the Cumbria 
Health Scrutiny Committee

Agenda
SPECIAL CUMBRIA HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

A Special meeting of the Cumbria Health Scrutiny Committee will be held as follows: 

Date: Friday 13 February 2015
Time: 10.30 am
Place: Committee Room 2 - County Offices, Kendal, LA9 4RQ

Dawn Roberts
Assistant Director – Corporate Governance

NB A PRE-MEETING WILL BE HELD AT 9.30 AM IN COMMITTEE 
ROOM 2 AND ALL MEMBERS ARE ENCOURAGED TO ATTEND

Enquiries and requests for supporting papers to:  Lynn Harker
Direct Line: 01228 226364
Email: lynn.harker@cumbria.gov.uk

This agenda is available on request in alternative formats

Serving the People of Cumbria



MEMBERSHIP

Conservative (2) Labour (3)

Mr J Bland
Mr J Lister

Mr M Hawkins
Ms C Wharrier
Mr M Wilson

Liberal Democrat (2)

Mr N Hughes
Mr R Wilson (Chair)

District Council Representatives (6)

Mr R Burns - Carlisle City Council
Mr P Kendall - Allerdale Borough Council
Mr G Garrity (Vice-Chair) - Copeland Borough Council
Mrs V Rees - South Lakeland District Council
Mrs J Raine - Eden District Council
Ms H Wall - Barrow Borough Council

ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Agenda and Reports

Copies of the agenda and Part I reports are available for members of the public to inspect 
prior to the meeting.  Copies will also be available at the meeting.

The agenda and Part I reports are also available on the County Council’s website – 
www.cumbria.gov.uk 

Background Papers

Requests for the background papers to the Part I reports, excluding those papers that 
contain exempt information, can be made to Legal and Democratic Services at the 
address overleaf between the hours of 9.00 am and 4.30 pm, Monday to Friday.

http://www.cumbria.gov.uk/


A G E N D A

PART 1: ITEMS LIKELY TO BE CONSIDERED IN THE PRESENCE OF THE PRESS 
AND PUBLIC

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To receive any apologies for absence.

2  MEMBERSHIP OF THE COMMITTEE

To note any changes to the membership of the Committee.

3  DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

Members are invited to disclose any disclosable pecuniary interest they have in any item 
on the agenda which comprises

1. Details of any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain. 

2. Details of any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from 
the authority) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your 
election expenses.  (This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992. 

3. Details of any contract which is made between you (or a body in which you have 
a beneficial interest) and the authority.

(a) Under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed; and 

(b) Which has not been fully discharged. 

4. Details of any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the authority.

5. Details of any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of 
the authority for a month or longer.

6. Details of any tenancy where (to your knowledge).

(a) The landlord is the authority; and

(b) The tenant is a body in which you have a beneficial interest.

7. Details of any beneficial interest in securities of a body where



(a) That body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area 
of the authority; and

(b) Either – 

(i) The total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) If that share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that class.

Note

A “disclosable pecuniary interest” is an interest of a councillor or their partner 
(which means spouse or civil partner, a person with whom they are living as 
husband or wife, or a person with whom they are living as if they are civil 
partners).

4  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

To consider whether the press and public should be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of any item on the agenda.

5  PROPOSED CHANGES TO CARDIAC AND UPPER GASTROINTESTINAL 
BLEED PATHWAYS IN NORTH CUMBRIA

To consider a report on the Proposed Changes to Cardiac and Upper Gastrointestinal 
Bleed Pathways in North Cumbria (information enclosed).
(Pages 5 - 56)

6  DATE OF FUTURE MEETING

To note that the next meeting of the Committee will be held on Monday 2 March 2015 at 
10.00 am in County Offices, Kendal.



IMPACT ASSESSMENT FORM FOR SUBSTANTIAL 
SERVICE CHANGE

Description of the proposal

The proposal relates to changes to two high risk patient pathways which would mean 
that around five patients a week who previously would have been treated at West 
Cumberland Hospital, Whitehaven would be transferred to Cumberland Infirmary, 
Carlisle.

The patient pathways are:

 Cardiology – the proposal is to transfer heart patients who are considered to 
be high risk, who would benefit from access to 24 hour specialist cardiology 
care and who may need a procedure to widen their coronary arteries

 Upper gastrointestinal (GI) bleeds – the proposal is to transfer patients who 
have significant internal bleeding in the upper part of the gastrointestinal tract 
(which extends from the gullet to the rectum) and who need quick access to 
an urgent endoscopy and 24 hour specialist care, including possible 
emergency surgery. 

The changes are part of measures being proposed by North Cumbria University 
Hospitals NHS Trust (NCUHT) to ensure safer services and ultimately achieve better 
outcomes in terms of recovery and survival for seriously ill patients. The Trust was 
placed in special measures by Sir Bruce Keogh, medical director of the NHS, in July 
2013 as a result of its higher than expected mortality rates. Although mortality rates 
are now within expected levels as a result of changes that have already been made 
by the Trust more needs to be done to ensure that these can be sustained and 
further improved. 

The challenges at the Trust are compounded by ongoing serious recruitment 
difficulties particularly in acute medicine at West Cumberland Hospital where there is 
a heavy reliance on temporary staff (locums). This was highlighted by the Care 
Quality Commission which announced in July 2014 that the Trust still required further 
improvements to be made and that it should remain in special measures.

Since 2011 heart patients from West Cumbria who need a stent, known as primary 
percutaneous coronary intervention (PPCI), to widen blocked or narrowed coronary 
arteries have been travelling to the new Heart Centre at Cumberland Infirmary for 
this procedure. Previously, before this service was made available at Carlisle, they 
travelled to the Freeman Hospital at Newcastle or James Cook University Hospital at 
Middlesbrough. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



This proposal extends the number of high risk heart patients who would travel to 
Carlisle for a PPCI and includes others, for example, patients with endocarditis (a 
serious heart infection) who it is considered need access to 24 hour specialist care in 
case their condition deteriorates. Once they are considered to be no longer high risk 
they are either transferred back to West Cumberland Hospital or discharged home 
depending on their condition. The majority of patients with heart conditions would 
continue to be cared for at West Cumberland Hospital.

The upper GI bleed patients are a small number considered to be high risk who need 
access to an urgent endoscopy, 24 hour specialist care and possibly emergency 
surgery. Again they would be transferred back to West Cumberland Hospital when 
they are no longer considered to be high risk or discharged home after treatment at 
Carlisle. 

Due to the serious recruitment difficulties at West Cumberland Hospital the Trust and 
NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) agreed during late summer 
2014 that patients who present with upper GI bleeds overnight and at weekends 
should be transferred to Cumberland Infirmary as an interim measure. This proposal 
extends this to include all patients with serious upper GI bleeds ie daytime, overnight 
and weekends. However, the majority of patients with gastrointestinal conditions 
would continue to be cared for at West Cumberland Hospital.

A single larger team has several advantages over split site smaller teams when 
dealing with a flow of patients requiring specialist intervention. A single larger team is 
able to learn from greater collective experience to deliver improvements in care, the 
fluctuations in workload are easier to deal with and the combined range of strengths 
are greater. As a larger hospital Cumberland Infirmary has greater numbers of 
medical and other staff able to deliver complex medical and nursing care as well as 
tests around the clock. This also allows the bigger Cumberland Infirmary teams to 
develop specialist skills, and gain greater experience because of higher patient 
numbers - factors which together are generally accepted in achieving better 
outcomes for patients.

Both pathways have been subject to discussions with clinicians and other colleagues 
at NHS Cumbria CCG. They have also been subject to a review by the Northern 
Clinical Senate, which is hosted by NHS England and comprises a range of 
independent senior clinicians from across the region who are experts in their own 
fields and have experience or understanding of the clinical issues under 
consideration.

During its review which took place in November 2014, the Senate met with doctors, 
nurses and other healthcare professionals from the Trust, lead GPs from the CCG, 
representatives from Cumbria County Council health scrutiny committee, 
Healthwatch Cumbria and patient groups, including the West Cumberland Hospital 
campaign group. 

The Senate reported back to the CCG and the Trust in December 2014. It said that 
the cardiac pathway ‘seems well thought through and offers real benefits for patients’ 
and ‘that the small number of patients with acute GI bleeds could benefit from a safer 
single site service’.  It also offered some suggestions about how the pathways could 

Page 6



be improved including seeking more detail on transport arrangements for patients 
being transferred and bed modelling at Cumberland Infirmary. After receiving 
additional information and clarification from the Trust, the Senate has said it is 
satisfied with the proposed changes to both cardiology and gastrointestinal bleeds.

The transfer of some high risk patients has been on the agenda in North Cumbria for 
several years. It was included in the Care Closer to Home public consultation, 
carried out by the former NHS Cumbria Primary Care Trust during 2007, following 
which approval was given for the transfer of some high risk patients. However, for a 
number of reasons these changes were not made at that time.

The proposed changes are also in line with the direction of travel set out in the 
interim five year plan for the North Cumbria health economy which was submitted to 
NHS England in June 2014 and subsequently made public and shared with 
interested parties. The plan, led by the CCG but developed through the together for 
a healthier future programme board which comprises senior representatives from 
NHS organisations across North Cumbria, NHS England, Cumbria County Council 
and Healthwatch, explains that some hospital services may need to be consolidated 
to optimise the skills and staff available and in doing so ensure safer services. The 
plan said that pathways for patients with very serious acute illnesses were being 
reviewed to see if their care should be centralised on one site.

Name of group doing this assessment…NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning 
Group and North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust

Date 30 Jan 2015

This assessment tool has been designed to help the Health and Well-being Scrutiny 
Committee and its NHS partners agree whether a proposed variation amounts to a 
substantial service change or development as set out in the legislation.

Its aim is to improve mutual understanding of the issues at stake and their 
significance and ideally should be worked through jointly involving user or carer 
representatives. It does not remove the need for judgement. It is based on models 
which have been used and found helpful elsewhere.  The scoring is on a seven point 
scale, ranging from major negative impact (-3) to major positive impact (+3), using 
the matrix set out below. Use the “Comment” column to note down any remarks, e.g. 
addition information needed to make a better judgement.

Impact Range -3 Major negative impact
-2 Medium negative impact
-1 Minor negative impact
0 No impact

+1 Minor positive impact
+2 Medium positive impact
+3 Major positive impact

Page 7



1. Changes in Accessibility
(Consider changes in:  travel time; frequency of journey; period of use of the service; 
opening hours; waiting times; whether or not the change affects emergency access, 
equity including effect on vulnerable groups, etc.)

Ref Aspect Score Comment
A Reduction/Increas

e in Service
The majority of West Cumbria patients with heart 
problems and gastrointestinal illnesses would 
continue to receive their treatment at West 
Cumberland Hospital (in much improved facilities 
following the opening of the redeveloped hospital in 
April 2014).

North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust 
(NCUHT) estimates that around five patients a 
week would be affected by the proposed changes 
to the two pathways (2.6 for cardiology and 1.7 for 
upper GI bleeds).

The proposal is to ensure these seriously ill 
patients have access to 24 hour specialist care to 
improve their outcome and chance of survival. 

B Local Provision 
Accessibility

The estimated number of around 5 seriously ill 
patients a week who would be transferred to 
Cumberland Infirmary may be assessed first in the 
accident and emergency department at West 
Cumberland Hospital before being transferred to 
ensure access to 24 hour specialist care, except 
where ECGs in the ambulance are diagnostic of a 
cardiac event, when they will be taken directly to 
Cumberland Infirmary. This means making sure 
they have access to the specialist support they 
need to treat them.

The intention would be to transfer patients back to 
West Cumberland Hospital following treatment and 
once they were no longer considered to be high 
risk (or discharged home if well enough).

C Relocation of 
Service

There would continue to be services for heart 
patients and those with gastrointestinal illnesses at 
West Cumberland Hospital. The proposal relates to 
a very small number of high risk patients who it is 
believed would have an improved outcome or a 
better chance of survival by being transferred to 
Cumberland Infirmary for access to 24 hr specialist 
care. 

D Withdrawal of 
Service

As outlined above, the proposal is not about 
withdrawing specific services. The majority of heart 
patients and those with gastrointestinal illnesses 
would continue to be treated at West Cumberland 
Hospital. 

TOTAL

Page 8



2. Impact on the Wider Community

Ref Aspect Score Comment
A Transport Local NHS organisations recognise that transport 

and travelling for health services is a key issue 
across Cumbria because of the geography and 
distances involved, availability of public transport, 
low car ownership in some areas and car parking 
difficulties at West Cumberland Hospital and 
Cumberland Infirmary. They also recognise the 
impact of service demand and service changes 
overall on the ambulance service for emergency, 
urgent and patient transport services. As such the 
together for a healthier future programme board 
has agreed to scope the range of transport issues 
that need to be addressed and a meeting is being 
convened of interested parties.

In relation to the proposed changes to these two 
pathways, any transport implications would be for 
the patients and their families/carers or friends who 
may wish to visit them and the ambulance service. 

The procedure for patient transfers is outlined in a 
comprehensive policy - Transfer of Patient Policy 
(including Intra and Inter Hospital Transfers) which 
has been agreed with North West Ambulance 
Service. 

In terms of ambulance provision, for the two 
pathways in question the transfers equate to 
around five a week. Discussions are ongoing with 
the North West Ambulance Service about the 
implications of such changes to ensure they have 
sufficient capacity before any change is introduced.
 
Following a recent report by Healthwatch Cumbria 
(January 2015) on car parking difficulties at both 
West Cumberland Hospital and Cumberland 
Infirmary, the Trust has provided a comprehensive 
response to Healthwatch, addressing concerns 
raised. This includes reference to the Trust’s travel 
plan, finalised in December 2014 which provides 
analysis of current travel patterns for patients, 
visitors and staff. It also provides recommendations 
and actions aimed at improving car parking, as well 
as moving towards more sustainable travel 
arrangements in the future.

All of the reports referred to in this section are 
available to the scrutiny committee members.

Page 9



B Community 
Safety

As with all hospital services there would be 
governance arrangements in place to ensure safe 
and effective care for the patients. In developing 
the patient pathways independent advice and 
support has been sought from the Northern Clinical 
Senate which comprises independent clinical 
experts. The Senate team which reviewed the 
pathways included senior clinicians who were 
selected because of their relevant experience and 
understanding of conditions involved.

As indicated above a comprehensive policy about 
patient transfers has been agreed with North West 
Ambulance Service. 

C Local Economy There should be no impact on the local economy.
D Environment The proposed changes result in a small number of 

patients (estimated around five a week) being 
transferred from West Cumberland Hospital to 
Cumberland Infirmary and consequently additional 
travelling for families/carers and friends. Given the 
numbers involved it is expected that this would 
have a minimal impact on the environment.

E Regeneration The proposed changes would contribute towards 
the delivery of more effective and safer hospital 
care for people in West Cumbria, in line with 
national standards.

TOTAL

3. Patients/Carers Affected

Ref Aspect Score Comment
A Number of 

Patients/Carers
It is estimated that around five patients a week (2.6 
cadiac patients and 1.7 upper gastrointestinal 
patients) would be transferred from West 
Cumberland Hospital to Cumberland Infirmary to 
ensure access to 24 hr specialist care.

B Proportion 
Affected

The majority of heart patients and those with 
gastrointestinal problems would continue to be 
treated at West Cumberland Hospitals. In 
percentage the numbers of patients admitted as 
emergencies to West Cumberland Hospital who it 
is proposed should transfer equates to:

 3.26% of patients digestive problems
 2.7% patients with heart and circulatory 

problems 
C Equality & 

Diversity
All health services must meet the needs of the 
protected characteristics as defined in the Equality 
Act 2010. This includes ensuring access to 
translation and British Sign Language when 
required.

Page 10



In terms of the protected groups it is likely that 
there would be a greater proportion of older 
patients involved in these two pathways. 

Overall the proposed changes would ensure equity 
of access to 24 hr specialist care for the patients 
involved.  

D Social Exclusion The small number of patients involved in these 
proposed changes generally access the hospital 
services through Accident and Emergency after 
becoming unwell.

E Views from 
Patients Forum 
etc

Patient feedback on potential changes to health 
and care services, including consolidating some 
services for very serious acute illnesses, has been 
sought in a number of ways.

During April, May and June 2014 stakeholder 
engagement, led by the CCG on behalf of the 
together for a healthier future programme board 
took place to inform the development of a five year 
plan for the North Cumbria health economy. This 
included 13 roadshows in busy venues such as 
market places in towns and villages, ten meetings 
with local councils, two big sessions with 
community and voluntary sector organisations and 
20 independent focus groups.

The interim five year plan was made public in July 
2015 and a summary booklet was subsequently 
produced. The latter was shared with stakeholders 
and made available at a range of public venues.

From late summer to the end of December 2014, 
local NHS organisations attended 19 meetings with 
local councils, the public, campaign groups, 
community and voluntary sector organisations and 
other interested community groups to provide 
updates on progress with the development of the 
five year plan, seek further views and answer 
questions. This included the ongoing discussions 
about the consolidation of some hospital services. 
These meetings were in addition to the routine 
attendances at overview and scrutiny committee 
meetings and meetings with MPs when updates 
were provided, including about discussions to 
consolidate some hospital services.

In late October 2014 NCUHT made public its 
Options Appraisals report which included 
references to the consolidation of some hospital 
services for the most seriously ill patients, including 
cardiac patients and those with upper GI bleeds.

Page 11



Following the publication of this report the Trust 
commissioned Healthwatch to run 12 public 
workshops during November, December 2014 and 
early January 2015 to seek comments from the 
public. During this time there was also an online 
questionnaire analysed by Healthwatch.

Consistent themes emerge across all engagement 
activity. Feedback overall from engagement 
activities shows that there is a recognition and 
acceptance that patients need to travel for 
specialist care. During autumn 2014 in particular 
there were comments about patients being 
transferred for routine fractures and for illnesses 
that people felt should have been treated at West 
Cumberland Hospital. 

Transport is often mentioned as being an issue in 
terms of the comfort and safety of patients who 
need to be transferred, the distances involved, lack 
of public transport, cost of travelling, low car 
ownership in some areas and car parking 
difficulties at both West Cumberland Hospital and 
Cumberland Infirmary. Other comments have 
included availability of ambulances when needed in 
an emergency and the comfort of patients being 
transferred. 

People have also expressed concerns about 
capacity at Cumberland Infirmary and within the 
ambulance service to cope with an increased 
number of transfers.

There has also been a lack of awareness of the 
broad range of services to be available in the 
redeveloped West Cumberland Hospital and this is 
being addressed through strengthened 
communications and engagement. 

Finally, during autumn 2014 the CCG and the Trust 
commissioned an independent research company 
to conduct a survey to understand the experience 
of patients who been involved in transfers from 
West Cumberland Hospital to Cumberland 
Infirmary.

This independent survey was in addition to earlier 
surveys conducted by NCUHT, again to understand 
the views of patients who had been involved in 
hospital transfers.  The summary findings show 
generally high levels of satisfaction with the 
transfers. This included 85% rating their experience 
of being transferred as excellent, very good or good 
and 98% being given an explanation of why they 
were being transferred. All responding had 

Page 12



confidence (definitely or to some extent) in the staff 
transferring them and 87% rated their overall care 
at the Trust as excellent, very good or good. 
However, 77% said they were not offered the 
chance for a relative, friend or carer to travel with 
them. Just under 30% felt the transfer was delayed 
a little or a lot.

Reports are available from all of the above 
involvement and engagement activities, should the 
committee wish to see these.

TOTAL

4. Methods of Service Delivery

Ref Aspect Score Comment
A Change in Setting The small number of high risk patients involved 

would be treated at Cumberland Infirmary rather 
than at West Cumberland Hospital.

B Change in 
Technology

The proposed change is more about access to 24 
hour specialist care than to any change in 
technology.

C Change in 
Practitioner

The proposed changes to the pathways would 
ensure that the small number of high risk patients 
had access to 24 hour specialist care.

D Change in Care 
Process

The change in the care process would be ensuring 
access to 24 hr specialist care for the seriously ill 
patients involved.

TOTAL

5. Financial and Other Factors

Ref Aspect Score Comment
A Financial Impact 

on NHS body
The proposed changes are being driven by a drive 
to improve safety and achieve better outcomes for 
patients, rather than by financial considerations. 
There would be no financial savings from these 
proposals.

B Financial Impact 
on Local Authority 
and other 
agencies

There should be no impact on the local authority or 
other agencies.

C Other material 
factors

Nothing further to add to comments in this and 
previous sections.

D Cumulative effect 
of change

As above the changes are not being driven by 
financial considerations.

TOTAL

Page 13



Interpretation of the results

Score Interpretation
(a)  At least one individual score of -

1, +1 or +2 (but no individual 
score of +3, -2 or -3); AND

 the total for any category is no 
less than -3.

Involve users and carers in planning 
the change

(b)  at least one individual score of -2 
or +3 (but no individual scores of 
-3); OR

  the total for any category is 
between -4 and -6; 

As (a) plus
 Substantial service change;
 Need to consult with scrutiny.
 Need for a local or limited 

public consultation.
(c)  at  least one  individual score of -

3 OR 
 the total for any category is 

between -7 and -15:

As (a) plus
 Substantial change.
 Need to consult with health 

scrutiny.
 Need for a full public 

consultation

Page 14



 

  

North Cumbria 
Services reprovision 
Review (Phase 1) 
Northern Clinical Senate Review 

November  4&5, 2014  

 

Page 15



1 | P a g e  
 

 

Contents 
 
Ref Content Page  

1 Summary   2-3 

2 Background 4-5 

3 Terms of Reference 6 

4 Review Process 7-8 

5 Timescale 9 

6 Limitations 9 

7 Review Team comments on Pathways 10-22 

8 The overall review 23 

9 Emerging Themes 24-25 

10 Suggestions 26-27 

11 Appendices  

 - Supporting Background Information 28 

 - CCG letter 29 

 - Terms of Reference 30 

 - Agenda of meetings  31 

 - Biogs of Review Panel 32-34 

 - Glossary of Acronyms 35 

 - Clinical Senate Review Framework 36 

 - Key options 37 

 - Contact Details 38 
   
 
  

Page 16



2 | P a g e  
 

Summary  
This report presents the Northern Clinical Senate’s suggestions to NHS Cumbria 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) on the developing high risk clinical pathways in 
North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust (NCUHT). 
 
The Clinical Senate was asked to give assurance on the pathways for high risk 
cardiac cases including high risk cardiac cases including transfer for urgent or 
emergency percutaneous intervention (PCI), acute stroke, management of acute 
gastro intestinal bleeds and emergency high risk acute medicine providing external 
challenge and checks in the system to ensure that proposals that are developed are 
clinically robust. 
 
A review team drawn from the senate council and assembly for their relevant 
expertise in the areas under review, explored the issues and formulated this advice.  
We are very grateful to everyone involved for the time they committed and the level 
of enquiry, expertise and objectivity that they brought.  Over the course of two days 
we met many clinicians, CCG Leads, Trust Management Officers as well as 
members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Health Watch and patient groups 
including the West Cumberland Hospital (WCH) campaign group and we are very 
grateful to them for the flexibility they showed in making time to see us and for the 
openness with which they shared their views. 
 
There are very considerable challenges facing North Cumbria, due to the area 
covered, the isolation of the significant population centre of Whitehaven, poor staff 
morale and retention and a history of many management teams in the last 7 years.  
Both CCG and NCUHT have made great efforts to improve things, despite severe 
financial constraints.  We recognise that CCG and NCUHT have a shared aim to 
ensure a safe and sustainable service for their patients, and that the current 
arrangements for hospital services are not satisfactory, acute medical services for 
example being deemed inadequate by the Chief Inspector of Hospitals, which gives 
an urgency to the need for a change in the way patients are cared for. The new 
pathway for primary PCI seems well thought through and offers real benefits for 
patients.  Data from elsewhere in the UK suggests there is potential for similar 
benefits for acute stroke patients if the acute management were to be centralised on 
one site in a unit that was equipped and staffed to fully meet the needs of these 
patients ; there would also need to be good rehabilitation services on both sites, the 
assessment, transport and bed management issues need to be robustly  addressed, 
and public fully consulted and engaged .Similarly, the small number of patients with 
acute GI bleeds could benefit from a safer single site service.  The management of 
acute medical emergencies and the use of the National Early Warning Score (NEWS) 
score to determine the management pathway needs considerably more work.  It is 
not clear that the NEWS score is designed to be used in this way as the score may 
change in response to the immediate treatment given in A&E and assessment units. 
There also seemed to be a lack of clarity as to what proportion of acutely ill medical 
patients from WCH would be transferred to Cumberland Infirmary, Carlisle ( CIC ) if a 
high NEWS score was a trigger for transfer to the CIC site. Elderly frail patients with 
significant co-morbidities might score highly and yet might not benefit from the most 
intensive therapies. Furthermore, notwithstanding the difficulties in staffing, the 
opening of the new hospital on the WCH site with the dedicated emergency floor 
should offer the potential for caring well for these patients if innovative staffing 

Page 17



3 | P a g e  
 

models were adopted.  Underpinning all these considerations there needs to be 
more detailed work on transport arrangements for patients and robust bed modelling, 
particularly at CIC. Despite considerable effort, and notwithstanding real issues of 
sustainable safety and financial balance, more work is needed to ensure public and 
staff buy into service development plans with a shared vision of benefits, particularly 
for patients from Whitehaven. The members of the local community we spoke to 
seemed to have some understanding that some services needed to be centralised to 
ensure better and safer outcomes, but they perceived there to be a lack of openness 
as to exactly which services would be affected, how many patients would be 
transferred and whether greater changes were planned than had been discussed.  
  

Page 18



4 | P a g e  
 

Background 
 
There is a Cumbria Primary Care Trust document ‘Closer to Home’ An NHS 
consultation on providing more healthcare in the community in North Cumbria’ which 
was developed and publically consulted on strategy published in 2008.  In 2011 NHS 
Cumbria and North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust produced a Clinical 
Strategy for North Cumbria after an engagement process to discuss and agree the 
clinical models of care. Since then health and care organisations across North 
Cumbria have been working together as part of the ‘Together for a healthier future 
2014’ programme to develop a five year plan for better health and care services 
based on the principles of delivering the ‘right care, at the right time, and in the right 
place’ 
 
(Appendix 1: Care Closer to home 2008, North Cumbria Clinical Strategy 2011, 
Together for a Healthier Future 2014, North Cumbria Strategy 2014 -2019, North 
Cumbria Trust paper on clinical options appraisal - October 2014) 
 
The initial request from NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group asked the 
Clinical Senate to review proposals for changes to acute medicine high risk 
pathways at North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust as part of the NHS 
England assurance process for service change, with a view to moving to consultation 
of any proposed changes in the near future.  However it became apparent that plans 
were not sufficiently well developed to demonstrate how improvements would be 
delivered therefore the CCG would be unable to demonstrate how any major 
changes would meet the four tests set out by the previous Secretary of State. 
The four tests, intended to apply in all cases of major NHS service change during 
normal stable operations, are: 
 

i. strong public and patient engagement; 
ii. consistency with current and prospective need for patient choice; 
iii. a clear clinical evidence base; and 
iv. support for proposals from clinical commissioners. 

 
In addition to these four tests, the NHS England assurance toolkit also identifies a 
range of best practice checks for service change proposals, these include: 

i. clear articulation of patient and quality benefits 
ii. the clinical case fits with national best practice and clinical sustainability,  and 
iii. an options appraisal includes consideration of a network approach, 

cooperation and collaboration with other sites and / or organisations.  
As part of the NHS England assurance process, clinical senates will be requested to 
review a service change proposal against the appropriate key test (clinical evidence 
base) and the best practice checks that relate to clinical quality.   
 
At the ‘Together for a Healthier Future’ programme board it was agreed the 
proposals were not at an ‘assurance stage’ therefore the senate were requested to 
undertake more of a listening and supportive role to ascertain the Trust’s progress in 
developing its plans for the management of high risk cardiac cases, acute stroke 
care, the management of acute gastrointestinal bleeds, and emergency high 
dependency medical care.  (Appendix 2 – CCG Letter)  

Page 19



5 | P a g e  
 

Senate Council met and agreed a reposition of the review (phase 1) with a view to 
providing assurance at a later date (phase 2). 
  

Page 20



6 | P a g e  
 

 
Terms of Reference 
 
The process to formulate advice was led by Professor Andrew Cant, Chair of the 
Northern Clinical Senate.  Draft terms of reference were developed in discussion 
with the NHS Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group and the ‘Together for a 
Healthier Future’ programme board.  The terms of reference were discussed and 
agreed at Senate Council 6th October 2014.  Terms of reference were also shared 
with Medical Director of NHS Cumbria, Northumberland, Tyne and Wear Area Team. 
(Appendix 3) 
 
  
 
 
 
 
  

Page 21



7 | P a g e  
 

Review Process 
 
The following review team members were drawn from the senate council and 
assembly 
 
Andrew Cant (Chair) Clinical Senate Chair and Consultant in Paediatrics 

Immunology and Infection , Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals 
Foundation Trust 

Robin Mitchell Clinical Director, North of England Strategic Clinical 
Networks 

Hilary Lloyd Director of Nursing, Gateshead Health NHS Foundation 
Trust 

Paul Fell Consultant Paramedic, North East NHS Ambulance Service 
Foundation Trust 

Lesley Kay Clinical Senate Vice Chair and Consultant Rheumatologist, 
Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals Foundation Trust 

Lynda Dearden Network Manager of the Northern Clinical Networks and 
Senate 

Jon Scott Stroke Consultant, South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust 
Phil Adams Consultant Cardiologist (retired) 
Chris Plummer Consultant Cardiologist, Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals 

Foundation Trust 
Mark Hudson Consultant Hepatologist & Gastroenterologist, Newcastle 

upon Tyne hospitals Foundation Trust 
Andrew Simpson Consultant in Accident & Emergency Medicine, North Tees 

& Hartlepool NHS Trust 
Roy McLachlan   Associate Director, Northern England Clinical Networks & 

Senate, NHS England 
 
Background Information collated by the sponsoring organisation and was presented 
to the senate review team before the visit  including demographic data, 
organisational information, site maps, and other information that the sponsoring 
organisation felt would help the reviewers understand the issues surrounding the 
services under review.  
 
The review team came together in Cumbria on the evening of 3rd November 2014 to 
meet the sponsoring organisation and to discuss the information received  
Over the following 2 days Reviewers met with Clinical Directors and clinical 
colleagues across both hospital sites ( CIC and WCH ) and met the Trust Chief 
Executive, Medical Director, Nurse Director, CCG leads, Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (OSC) Chair and vice chair, Healthwatch,  and patient groups. 
 
 
 
  

Page 22



8 | P a g e  
 

The Senate Review panel met with the following people:  
 
 

• Nigel Maguire, Chief Officer, NHS  Cumbria CCG   
• Rosemary Granger , Programme Co-ordinator,  Together for a Healthier 

Future Programme 
• Emergency Department Staff at CIC , Dr Peter Weaving GP Clinical Director 

and Elizabeth Klein, Matron Emergency Care, Ruth Reed, Emergency 
Medicine Consultant, Emma Farrow, Emergency Medicine Consultant, a 
number of nursing colleagues 

• Lynn Anderson, Paul Davies, Roger Moore, Jon Sturman, Judith  Brannen 
(Consultants from different specialties, senior matron from Medical Business 
Unit and cardio nurse) 

• Claire Summers A&E Consultant, Lesley Carruthers Deputy Director of 
Nursing , Dave Glover, Operations and Services Manager, Emergency 
Medical Unit, Les Morgan, WCH Director 

• Joanna Cox, Consultant in Elderly Care, Rachel Glover – Stroke Nurse, Olu 
Orugun, Consultant in Elderly Care Medicine, Joanne Pickering, Matron 
Emergency Medicine 

• Dr Debbie Freake, Director of Strategy, North Cumbria University Hospitals 
NHS Trust 

• Dr Jeremy Rushmer, Medical Director,  North Cumbria University Hospitals 
NHS Trust Gail Naylor, Director of Nursing,  North Cumbria University 
Hospitals NHS Trust 

• Helen Reay Chief Operating Officer,  North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS 
Trust 

• Ann Farrar, Chief Executive,  North Cumbria University Hospitals NHS Trust 
• Dr David Rogers, NHS Cumbria CCG Medical Director and Dr Hugh Reeve,  

NHS Cumbria CCG Clinical Chair 
• Caroline Rea, CCG Network Director for North Cumbria 
• Cllr Rod Wilson, Chair of Cumbria OSC 
• Cllr Geoff Garrity, Vice Chair of Cumbria OSC 
• David Blacklock, CEO of Healthwatch Cumbria 
• Siobhan Gearing, Christine Wharrier and  Mahesh  Dhebar,   West 

Cumberland Hospital campaign group 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 23



9 | P a g e  
 

Timescales 
 
Review visit 3rd, 4th and 5th November 2014 
Draft Report to sponsoring organisation by 21st November 2014 
Final report first week December 2014 
 
(Appendix 4 - Pre Review agenda and Visit Agenda) 
 
Limitations 
 
The pathways reviewed were: 

•  High risk cardiac cases  
• Acute Stroke Care 
• Management of Acute GI Bleeds 
• Emergency care 

 
Out of scope 

• Obstetrics and midwifery 
• Paediatrics  
• Planned care and outpatients 

 
Unfortunately the review team were unable to meet with representatives from the 
North West Ambulance Service (NWAS). 
  

Page 24



10 | P a g e  
 

Clinical Senate Review of North Cumbria Services Re-provision (Phase 1 visit) 
 

Comments on Pathways : Cardiology 
Features of the 
pathway 

Assessment of progress to date What is needed 

 
Patients with STEMI 
suitable for PPCI 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
• PPCI performed in CIC from 2012 (BCIS audit 

data) 
• NICOR audit data from 2011-12 show 0%, and in 

2012-13 show 9.4% of STEMI patients receiving 
PPCI with performance not reaching national 
standards (median call to balloon 195.5min, 
median door to balloon 124min) 

• STEMI pathway established with systematic 24h 
service started in June 2013 

• Local data were presented from June 2013 to 
March 2014 showing much improved performance 
- meeting national targets 

• The pathway includes only patients attending West 
Cumberland Hospital 

• Perception of benefit to local population from all 
stakeholders – a “state-of-the-art” treatment 
delivered closer to home then the previous services 
in Newcastle and Middlesbrough 

 
• A pathway for all patients with STEMI should be 

developed 
• Up-to-date audit data to support pathway success  

should be collected and presented 
o MINAP data for 2013-14 is due to be published  

on 15th December 2014 
o the Trust will already have access to local data 
o analysis of STEMI patient numbers which are 

85% higher than those reported to have received 
thrombolysis (incoming patients from north of N 
Cumbria may explain this) 

• Presentation of key performance indicators (call to 
balloon and door to balloon) for each locality to 
demonstrate performance within targets across the 
county 

• Full consideration of the impact of the service on 
ambulance performance  

• Decision support for ambulance crew and GPs for pre-
hospital triage to avoid unnecessary inter-hospital 
transfers 

o ECG acquisition in ambulance with wireless 
transfer to CCU nursing staff in CIC ± WCH1 

o single point of immediate telephone contact for 
difficult case discussions 
 

   

                                                           
1 NWAS reported to use ECG transmission previously 

P
age 25



11 | P a g e  
 

Patients with STEMI 
unsuitable for PPCI 
 

• The treatment of these patients was not discussed 
– they are not included in pathways reviewed 

• A pathway for these patients should be developed - all 
ACS patients must be considered 

Patients with NSTEMI 
suitable for 
angiography 

 
• Elective PCI performed in CIC from December 

2011 (BCIS audit data) 
• NICOR audit data from 2011-12 show 64.3%, and 

in 2012-13 show 79.8% of NSTEMI patients 
undergoing angiography during their admission 

• Perception of benefit to local population from all 
stakeholders – a “state-of-the-art” treatment 
delivered closer to home then the previous services 
in Newcastle and Middlesbrough 
 

 
• Up-to-date audit data to support pathway success  

o MINAP data for 2013-14 is due to be published  
on 15th December 2014 

o the Trust will already have access to local data 

 
• A new NSTEMI pathway has been developed and 

was presented 
• The pathway considers only “Patients Attending 

West Cumberland Hospital with a Non ST 
Elevation Myocardial Infarction” 

 
• A comprehensive pathway should be developed to 

include all patients presenting with chest pain with 
guidance on defined sub-groups  

• This should include decision support for ambulance crew 
and GPs for pre-hospital triage (clear criteria e.g. 
symptoms, duration, ECG changes, past history, age) to 
avoid unnecessary inter-hospital transfers 

o ECG acquisition in ambulance with wireless 
transfer to CCU nursing staff in CIC ± WCH2  

o single point of immediate telephone contact for 
difficult case discussion 

o discussion with GPs about their role in ACS 
• Full consideration of the impact of the service on 

ambulance performance  
o consider ambulance or GP diversion to CIC to 

avoid long/multiple ambulance journeys 
• An assessment of the impact on CIC to ensure 

                                                           
2 NWAS reported to use ECG transmission previously 

P
age 26



12 | P a g e  
 

appropriate resources - an activity assessment may be 
helpful. 
 

 
 

 
• Calculation of TIMI and GRACE risk scores are 

both required in the pathway 

 
• It is unclear why both scores are needed - including TIMI 

renders the criteria highly sensitive. Most admissions (of 
all sorts!) to WCH will have TIMI of 3 meaning that all 
elderly patients, many of whom have raised TnT, will 
have TIMI 4. 
 

Patients with NSTEMI 
unsuitable for 
angiography 

 
• The current NSTEMI pathway includes only 

patients “suitable for angiography” 
 

 
• A pathway is required for “unsuitable” patients 
• In Appendix 2 of flow chart, patients unsuitable for 

angiography are discharged without cardiology input. We 
doubt this was the intended outcome. 
 

Timing of transfer for 
NSTEMI patients for 
angiography 

 
• The NSTEMI pathway states a transfer target of 

96h based on NICE Clinical Guidance 94 (March 
2010) 

• Transfer of NSTEMI patients is described in the 
pathway 

• The review panel were told that current NSTEMI 
transfer may be delayed by bed availability at CIC 
but no data were presented 
 

 
• The NICE Quality Standard 68 (September 2014): 

http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs68/resources/informat
ion-for-the-public-nice-quality-standard-for-acute-
coronary-syndromes-including-myocardial-infarction-pdf 
states that 72h is the current quality standard. This 
should be addressed in the pathway and audit data. 

• Transfer times should be audited and presented 
• Consider ways to facilitate timely transfers  

o potential benefits across the Trust 
o potential disadvantages to other services must 

be considered 
• Resources should be reviewed: 

o CIC bed numbers  
o Ring-fencing of beds is being considered 
o CIC timely discharge 
o CIC admissions policy 

P
age 27

http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs68/resources/information-for-the-public-nice-quality-standard-for-acute-coronary-syndromes-including-myocardial-infarction-pdfu
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs68/resources/information-for-the-public-nice-quality-standard-for-acute-coronary-syndromes-including-myocardial-infarction-pdfu
http://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs68/resources/information-for-the-public-nice-quality-standard-for-acute-coronary-syndromes-including-myocardial-infarction-pdfu


13 | P a g e  
 

o ambulance availability 
• imaginative solutions may be required (e.g. transferring 

more than one patient per ambulance) 
 
 
 

Patient management – 
NSTEMI 
 

 
• A flow-chart has been written and made available 

to staff 
• It is considered complex by WCH A&E 
• WCH A&E have produced alternative flow-chart 

 

 
• Consider simplification for non-specialists in 

collaboration with WCH staff (A&E staff are enthusiastic) 
 

 
• Use of troponins in diagnosis described 
• Current practice regarding timing of samples is not 

fully defined 

 
• It is not clear whether TnT assays are available 24h in 

WCH - if not, consider a “Point of Care” assay 
• Consider early rule out using paired samples up to 6h to 

avoid overnight stay for a 12h test 
 

Availability of 
expert advice at WCH 

 
• The draft pathway for cardiology patients at WCH 

dated 04/09/14 states that “A cardiologist will be 
available 9-5pm Monday to Friday for support 
either at WCH or by phone from CIC” 

 
• In a 24h service, support may be required at any time 
• Some documents suggest advice is available 24h, but 

this is not explicit 
• Despite vacancies and other resource issues, telephone 

advice ± remote ECG review (e-mail or fax) should be 
available 24h 

• Additional resources may be required 
 

Patients with 
pericardial tamponade 

 
• Defined in the pathway as diagnosed on echo 
• The availability of echo at WCH or CIC was not 

clarified 

 
• A more detailed pathway taking into account the 

availability of echocardiography should be developed 
• Alternative imaging modalities should be considered 
• Transfer to CIC for further investigation and treatment 

should be considered for “high risk” patients with large 
effusions without echocardiographic evidence of 

P
age 28



14 | P a g e  
 

tamponade 
• Consider collaborative discussion with WCH staff 

 

Patients with 
infective endocarditis 

 
• Defined in the pathway as diagnosed on echo 
• The availability of echo at WCH or CIC was not 

clarified 

 
• A more detailed pathway taking into account the 

availability of echocardiography should be developed 
including clinical and microbiological criteria 

• Consider collaborative discussion with WCH staff 
 

Patients with 
bradycardia HR < 40 

 
• The pathway suggests transfer to CIC of those with 

o sinus bradycardia with HR<40 
o 2nd or 3rd degree heart block with HR<40 
o >=3s pauses 

 

 
• The sensitivity and specificity of these transfer criteria 

should be reviewed, for example: 
o asymptomatic sinus bradycardia on β-blocker 
o symptomatic complete heart block with HR 50 

• Consider more sensitive criteria for discussion with 
cardiologist on-call in CIC 

• Consider collaborative discussion with WCH staff 
 

Patients with 
ventricular tachycardia 

 
• Defined for transfer to CIC 

 

 
• More specific criteria for transfer are required, for 

example: 
o duration, symptoms, LV function, clinical situation 

• Consider criteria for discussion with cardiologist on-call 
in CIC 

• Consider collaborative discussion with WCH staff 
 

  

P
age 29



15 | P a g e  
 

Clinical Senate Review of North Cumbria Services Re-provision (Phase 1 visit) 
Comments on Pathways : Stroke 

Features of the Pathway Assessment of Progress to date What is needed 
 
It is noted that the geography and population 
distribution of North Cumbria is unique in the 
UK with 2 population densities approximately 
40+ miles apart in Carlisle and Whitehaven 
(and environs) in an otherwise sparsely 
populated region, with the 2 populations 
connected by a poor single carriageway road 
(A595). Also noted that there is a small but 
significant population to the south of 
Whitehaven whose transfer time to Carlisle is 
greater than 1h 
 
There are currently 2 under performing units 
(see SSNAP data) in Whitehaven (WCH) and 
Carlisle (CIC), both with staffing issues at all 
levels but particularly consultant level.  
 
Recruitment issues are not likely to be resolved 
in the short to medium term.  
 
Given the junior doctor staffing and training 
issues, it must be assumed that any stroke 
model should not be dependent on junior doctor 
recruitment but must be stroke specialist nurse 
led on site (24/7) with immediate access to a 
consultant either on site or via phone / 
telemedicine.  
 
Stroke patient numbers are approx 360 stroke 
discharges per annum at CIC and 240 stroke 

The Trust proposes to centralise hyper 
acute stroke services at Carlisle (CIC) 
and repatriate patients to Whitehaven 
for rehabilitation who live in the 
locality. This overall proposal is 
contained within a recent Trust 
publication and the basis for this is 
improved clinical outcomes by meeting 
national targets.  
 
There has been little practical progress 
in terms of detailing the exact clinical 
pathway despite considerable 
modelling work although the Trust CE 
states the Trust may be in a position to 
implement a stroke redirection model 
by April 2015 depending upon various 
factors which may include public 
consultation and/or service 
improvement work if agreed by 
commissioners. (verbal 
communication, Senate Visit).  
 
There does not appear to have been 
any patient or public consultation as 
yet on the stroke redirection proposal.  
 
Patient groups appear not to agree 
with the proposed re-direction 
(feedback from patient group at the 
Senate Visit) and would prefer 2 stroke 

Trust and patient groups and clinical lead all for stroke all 
agree the status quo for stroke services is not an option.  
There are 2 broad models that need to be  considered. It is 
not clear from Trust documentation how detailed this 
internal options analysis has been although there has been 
considerable internal modelling and analysis of various 
models .  
 

1.  2 hyper acute units, one at each site, with each 
providing hyper acute stroke services and in-patient 
rehabilitation services, with in person thrombolysis 
during office hours and telemedicine supported 
thrombolysis assessment. This is the current model 
with poor performance.  

2. Redirection of patients from one site to the other to a 
single hyper acute stroke unit, with repatriation for 
rehabilitation for this patients who need it after 
48/72h. This is the Trust’s preferred model and has 
the hyper acute unit placed at CIC.  

 
There are 2 versions of Option 2.  

1. Redirection of all stroke patients irrespective of time 
of onset 

2. Redirection of stroke patients who may be potentially 
suitable for thrombolysis 

 
The Trust documentation gives little detail as to which 
version of Option 2 is preferred, nor where thrombolysis for 
suitable patients would occur.  
Questions to ask.  

1. What will be the benefit of significant transfer times 

P
age 30



16 | P a g e  
 

discharges per annum at WCH. (N=600 pa 
total).  
 
No numbers presented for the number of non-
stroke admissions seen by the stroke service 
although most evidence suggests that for each 
confirmed stroke patient presenting to a service 
there is one suspected stroke patient whose 
ultimate diagnosis is non stroke but who still 
requires specialist assessment +/- imaging. The 
Trust however has subsequently confirmed that 
both stroke cases and stroke mimics are 
included in their service planning 
 
Vey long DTN times for thrombolysis at both 
units.  
Relatively low thrombolysis rates.  
 
On site stroke consultant during office hours at 
both sites.  
 
Out of hours thrombolysis assessment at both 
sites using telemedicine within a network of on 
call consultants extending down into South 
Cumbria and Lancashire rather than the North 
East.  
 
No provision for weekend review of new stroke 
patients at either site.  
 
No provision for weekend TIA at either site.  
 
 
 

units providing all services, one in 
WCH and one in CIC.  
 
Main issues for patients are the 
transfer time and the accessibility of 
CIC for patients and relatives in the 
WCH catchment area and uncertainty 
what benefits the redirection of 
patients would deliver given the 
transfer time and time dependant 
nature of stroke thrombolysis.  

for a large proportion of stroke patients and 
suspected stroke patients? 

2. Will a centralised stroke unit be adequately staffed 
and resourced in order to deliver the improved 
outcomes envisaged in the Trust documentation and 
to reassure the population that the benefits of 
redirection outweighs the risks. I.e. Will the 
population understand and see the benefit 

3. How will redirection work and who will be the 
decision maker? Paramedic, A&E staff? The worst 
possible pathway would be admission to one 
hospital and A&E followed by transfer to a second 
hospital A&E 

4. Following on from Point 3, and acknowledging the 
patient flow issues within CIC, Will the Trust be able 
to offer direct access to the hyper acute stroke unit? 

5. 6 consultants would be required to provide a 24/7 
hyper acute service with weekend review and 
weekend TIA clinic, whilst maintaining clinical input 
into a rehabilitation unit at the second site. Given the 
recruitment issues how will this be achieved? 

6. Will the Trust invest in appropriate nursing and AHP 
staff according to national guidelines for nurse and 
AHP staff/ patient ratios? 

7. Will the Trust give an assurance that the level of 
service offered on the 2 inpatient rehabilitation units 
will be identical? 

8. Has the Trust given any thought to development of 
an early supported discharge team and community 
stroke team to facilitate patient flow through the 
stroke pathway? There is no mention of this in any 
documentation. 

P
age 31



17 | P a g e  
 

Clinical Senate Review of North Cumbria Services Re-provision (Phase 1 visit) 
 

Comments on Pathway :  Gastrointestinal bleeds 
Features of the Pathway Assessment of Progress to Date What is needed 

Outline of Pathway is sound. (Devil in the detail) 
 
Lack of critical mass of Gastroenterologists to 
provide on site or cross site OOH care for 
Upper GI bleeding 
 

• Who is the ‘’experienced Clinical 
decision maker’ on WCH site? 

• Sengstaken  tube training on WCH site? 

Implemented 6 months ago (March) 
 
OOH UGI Endoscopy at CIC 
dependent on Surgical cover. 
Therefore NOT possible to provide 
remote cover for WCH site. 
 
Dr. Denis Burke not available at the 
time of visit. It would be helpful to 
discuss outcome of Summer  
workshops for 
Endoscopists….competencies. 
 
Guidelines in place for management of 
variceal  bleeding and placement of 
Sengstaken tube. 
 

Clarify escort arrangements for haemodynamically unstable 
patients 
 
More detail of Initial Risk Assessment 
 
Transfusion arrangements for patients requiring ongoing 
resuscitation during transfer 
 
Overview/Report from Dr Burke of experiences and 
outcomes to date 
 
Are current arrangements for endoscopy cover safe and 
sustainable? 
 
Endoscopy arrangements for patients with suspected bleed 
not triaged from WCH site 

 
Further comments:  

Mark Hudson's 
comments.docx  

  

P
age 32



18 | P a g e  
 

Clinical Senate Review of North Cumbria Services Re-provision (Phase 1 visit) 
 

Comments on Pathway : Emergency Care 
Transfer of patients based on National Early Warning Scores 

Features of the Pathway Assessment of Progress to date What is needed 
The detail of this proposed pathway is unclear 
from the documentation received. Interpretation 
is that it could either function in conjunction with 
the three other pathways under consideration 
(MI, GI bleed and Stroke) or could be used as a 
catch all and include other patient groups e.g 
respiratory and sepsis. 
 
The pathway suggests that patients with NEWS 
scores the are greater than and equal to seven 
should be transferred and those with scores 
equal or greater than five should be transferred 
unless their pre-existing morbidity indicates that 
they would have high scores or that they are on 
a palliative care pathway  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
It would seem that this is currently a 
“proposal” and has not been 
implemented as a formal pathway or 
consulted on.  
 
There is criteria (currently proposed) 
for admission to ITU that would 
suggest that it would be possible to 
have a NEWS equal to or in excess of 
7 but not meet the clinical criteria for 
level 2 care. 

The pathway appears simple but there are many possible 
variables it would therefore require the incorporation of 
formal exclusion criteria. 
 
Although recommended by the Royal College of Physicians 
a tool to be used in the pre hospital assessment of patients 
it appears not to have been validated as a screening tool to 
recommend transfer to a particular hospital (although this 
may come in the future)  
 
An evidence base for the use of physiological triggers to aid 
transfer in non-trauma patients would seem important prior 
to introducing this pathway 
 
The transfer guidelines for Hexham hospital indicate that a 
NEWS of 5 would result in; 
Nurse to request urgent assessment using SBAR from: 
F2 doctor or Nurse 
practitioner 
Consider escalation to 
specialty consultant 
There is no indication in this document that NEWS plays 
any further part.  
 
In regard to patients in the ED many have scores of 7 or 
above when they arrive the pathway suggests that a score 
of 5 or above post appropriate treatment would again trigger 
transfer. At what time would this be and what is the 
definition of “appropriate treatment”. Clearer definitions are 
required. 

P
age 33



19 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
It would be inappropriate to transfer from A&E to A&E rather 
than being admitted directly to a speciality bed unless there 
is a clear indication that the best place for the patient is the 
resuscitation room.  
 
Who would transfer the patient if members of hospital staff 
are involved they will be offsite for upwards of 2 1/2 hours 
 
There should be a formal assessment to ensure the 
response to  NEWS score is proportionate Currently the 
recommended response by the Royal College of Physicians 
to a NEWS of 7 or more is  
 

 
 
Overall much more evidence is needed to ensure that a 
transfer policy based around NEWS is both appropriate and 
reliable.  

 
  

P
age 34



20 | P a g e  
 

 
Clinical Senate Review of North Cumbria Services Re-provision (Phase 1 visit) 

Comments on Pathways : Transportation 
Features of the Pathway Assessment of Progress to date What is needed 
 
 
Transportation  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Currently transporting some patients 
i.e. surgery from one hospital to 
another without  a dedicated transport 
service  

To develop a robust, commissioned transport service for 
both Blue light and non-blue light transfers mainly from 
Cumberland to Carlisle, however also from Carlisle to West 
Cumberland for non-blue light transfers. 
 
The issue is they need to collate the number of potential 
transfers in both direction and for this to be mapped 
effectively. 
 
There is also a concern that critically ill patients will be 
transported for over an hour and what is the skill level 
required for the transportation of these patients. 
 
Need a robust action plan for transportation   

 
  

P
age 35



21 | P a g e  
 

 
Clinical Senate Review of North Cumbria Services Re-provision (Phase 1 visit) 

Comments on Pathways :  Nursing elements 
Features of the Pathway Assessment of Progress to date What is needed 
 
Stroke pathway 
Proposal for hyperacute stroke unit at CIC  - 
one unit with return of patients after 72 hours to 
WCH 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Cardiac Pathway 
 
 
 
 
 
 
GI Pathway 
 
 
 
 
General points 
Clear passion and enthusiasm from both 

 
This had not been implemented which 
means that currently no patients are 
benefiting from acute stroke care. 
Some talk of the care being provided 
in Critical care, but not sure how this 
ensure acute stroke care is being 
delivered 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This seems well developed 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Unclear how much this is already 
happening 

 
All stroke patients should have care in a stroke unit with 
specialist input. 
 
My main concern is that if all patients go to CIC, when they 
return will they go to a general ward or still have stroke unit 
care – the response was that they would go to a second 
stroke unit at WCH, but I am not sure this is reflected in the 
modelling for nurse staffing and OT and Physio input at the 
WCH site. I think if they cost this up, it may be quite 
expensive and I don’t think it was clear in the plans. There is 
a risk of inequity in that patients at CIC get a better service 
than patients at WCH. Nurses would need stroke training to 
be able to deliver optimum care on both sites. 
 
 
The plan was generally agreed to be sound. Main nursing 
points would be around cardiac rehabilitation and managing 
chest pain of inpatients particularly if nurse practitioners are 
performing F1 jobs. Are there sufficient skills to identify 
patients would need to be transferred from current inpatient 
areas. 
 
 
No real nursing issues, just wondered if they had thought 
about the use on nurse endoscopists. 
 
 
 
The role of the nurse practitioner was reported very 

P
age 36



22 | P a g e  
 

medical and nursing staff that we met and a 
desire to make things better for patients. 
 

positively and well respected. This seemed an innovative 
and forward thinking approach to some of the medical staff 
shortages. Experienced nursing staff have shown to make a 
positive difference in these type of roles and this is well 
documented. Very supportive of this approach, but would 
like the following points to be considered: 
These roles are not for everyone, is there a way back to 
‘nursing’ for those nurses who do not feel that this role is 
right for them? 
Is there the right level of clinical supervision available, 
especially in terms of clinical decision making? 
How are the nurses supported when things go wrong? 
Doctors are used to complex decision making but nurses 
have not been trained in this way and need the right level of 
support. 
How is the role being evaluated? 
 
Also, we did not have a chance to speak to any of these 
nurses themselves, so the information is only from others. 
 

 
 

P
age 37



23 | P a g e  
 

Overall Review 
The review team explored with the clinicians the proposed pathways looking at 
improvement in outcomes and standards that the proposals are intended to deliver 
and how the teams were considering the issues facing them. Consideration of the 
safety and quality of services were paramount throughout all of the discussions.  A 
view that consolidating acute out of hours surgical services to the CIC site had 
allowed surgeons to give a safer service which could not be assured in any other 
way.  It also supported the maintenance of surgical skills and the further 
development of new techniques by having a concentration of resources and 
expertise serving a critical mass of patients; thus supporting  innovation and 
research and increasing resilience.  The concentration of Primary Percutaneous 
Coronary Intervention (PCI) on the CIC site seemed to be well accepted and brings 
significant benefits to patients, not least as previously many patients were 
transferred to Middlesbrough or Newcastle.  Having said this, the availability of beds 
at CIC seemed to pose challenges, especially for urgent rather than emergency 
cases needing PCI.  The case for change for acute stroke care and high risk medical 
emergency management was less well developed and the review team was 
concerned that transport and bed availability at CIC needed further work.  
Travel and transport issues were clearly identified in almost every discussion.  
However there was insufficient information available to the review team on what 
work had been carried out by the Trust and ambulance services to estimate the 
impact on patients and their relatives travelling across sites and what , if any, 
consideration had been given to the use of patient hotels and additional parking 
space at Cumberland Infirmary. 
 
 (To get a better understanding of the challenges posed by geography the review 
team travelled back and forward between both sites and across to Penrith by mini 
bus over the course of the 2 day visit) 
  

Page 38



24 | P a g e  
 

Emerging Themes 
1. Geography/demography  

The review team were particularly struck by the challenging nature of the 
geography of North Cumbria. The distance between Carlisle and Whitehaven 
is probably the largest distance in England between two small/medium sized 
District General Hospitals managed by the same NHS Trust. The review team 
understand the catchment populations of the two hospitals are quite similar 
with Whitehaven serving 150,000 people and Carlisle 170,000. This brings 
real issues of equity of access for a relatively deprived population and 
challenged local health economy. We were informed of plans to expand 
British Nuclear Fields Limited with a potential 6,000 people predicted in the 
coastal conurbation.  
 

2. Transport  
Given the distances involved between hospitals, any centralisation of service 
will require close collaboration with the North West Ambulance Service 
(NWAS). A request will be made for some of the Senate Review team to meet 
with colleagues from NWAS to asses from their perspective how much 
progress has been made in specifying any changes to the transport system.  . 
 

3. Communication  
It is fully acknowledged that considerable effort has been put in to 
communicating with people in North Cumbria, particularly in and around 
Whitehaven. In spite of this effort the impression gained by the Senate 
Review Team is that there is more to do. Although we only met a small 
number of representatives of local campaigns, Healthwatch and the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee there is clearly now a degree of suspicion 
developing, particularly around the motivation for the recent, unexpected 
publication of a Draft Clinical Strategy by NCUHT .  In particular, the case for 
change and the benefits of centralisation of acute stroke care need to be 
articulated, ideally  by trusted local clinicians.  The issue of the management 
of acutely ill patients with other medical conditions needs to be explained with 
a clear vision of how the emergency and “acute” floor at WCH will operate and 
be staffed.  The use of the NEWS scoring system and how this will benefit 
patients’ needs to be explained.  Many frail elderly patients may trigger a 
score of 7, and the ways and means by which these patients will be managed 
need to be articulated together with a clear explanation of which patients will 
be managed at WCH and which it is proposed to transfer to CIC.  For the 
latter, the risks/benefits need to be put forward together with robust modelling 
of the transport arrangements and the means by which bed availability at CIC 
will be answered. 
 

4. Engagement  
As with Communications it is acknowledged that considerable effort has been 
put into engaging the public and staff, particularly around the role of the 
redevelopment of the hospital. The Senate Review Team did, however, come 
away with a sense that even more work is needed to persuade, for example, 
Whitehaven consultants whose services might be affected by change, of the 
need to do so. It was not felt that there was a ‘champion for change’ amidst 
the admittedly few consultants we met. 

Page 39



25 | P a g e  
 

 
5. Patient Safety v Patient Experience  

The Senate Review Team welcomed the very clear focus on patient safety 
inherent in the potential changes to clinical pathways. On several occasions, 
however, the team’s attention was drawn to the need to consider the full 
experience of patients during their treatment as well as their safety. Given the 
geography and travel implications in North Cumbria we know this will be a 
difficult balance to achieve. 
 

6. Recruitment/retention of medical staff  
It is acknowledged that considerable effort has been put into finding new ways 
of recruiting and retaining medical staff.  However services were reliant on 
locums and there appeared to be a large number of vacancies, we wondered 
if the time had come to consider very radically different roles combining 
primary and secondary care professional responsibilities.  Some staff at WCH 
spoke enthusiastically of the recruitment and training of nurse specialists and 
the invaluable help provided by 2 GPs with extra training in emergency 
medicine.  Whilst there were insufficient numbers of these staff to provide 
24/7 care, a further development of this model, underpinned by the impressive 
commitment of the A&E Consultants we met could provide a resilient way of 
delivering viable acute medical care for a large proportion of patients seen at 
WCH.  The timing of the publication of the High quality care for all, now and 
for future generations NHS England five year strategy is extremely helpful as 
it offers new thinking about solutions to local problems and we think North 
Cumbria is in such a difficult position it might be worth asking national 
colleagues to allow some radical experimentation in role design alongside 
new ways of recruiting. 
 

7. Lack of project plans and details 
The late change in focus of the terms of reference for the visit was the right 
thing to do. Plans are not yet detailed enough to go through an assurance 
process. Indeed, some of the earlier changes to surgical pathways appear not 
to have been well effected with apparent lack of written pathways/protocols to 
help GPs. The role of the Programme Board will need to ensure the detail 
regarding how many patients will require to be transferred for each pathway, 
agreeing timelines for implementation and holding organisations to account 
for delivery. The review team had sight of a Health Gateway report (Health 
Gateway ID: DH811) which was shared with the programme board and OSC. 
This report only focussed on the programme governance arrangements and 
not clinical issues however it highlights that strengthened governance 
arrangements will enable the programme board to perform the role of holding 
organisations to account for delivery. 
 
 

  

Page 40



26 | P a g e  
 

Suggestions  
1. It is pertinent for the role of the Programme Board to be revisited, to 

strengthen accountability, to develop a firm, detailed project plan with specific 
timelines and deliverables. Relationships appear strained and an opportunity 
to revitalise relationships with key stakeholders could helpfully be taken. 
Consideration could be given to the establishment of a programme office with 
responsibility for a major communications and engagement approach, 
potentially using independent specialist expertise to understand public and 
patient concerns, explore options for delivery models and design the key 
messages and media to be used. 
 
A starting point might be having an open, transparent discussion about the 
impact of the publication of the Trust’s Clinical Strategy document. There 
appears to be much agreement about a lot of the content and options but 
there are very important differences regarding some of the options in 
Maternity and Paediatrics. The programme Board needs to work these 
differences through and address the tensions in relationships that have been 
expressed to the Senate Review Team. 
 

2. As part of the ongoing dialogue for this stage of the review it would be helpful 
to gain a full understanding from the Trust’s perspective of the progress as we 
have understood it in implementing each of the pathways (pages 10– 22). 
 

3. The planning timeframe for delivery of changes to pathways could also be 
usefully revisited. Given the concerns received about communications and 
engagement, it is unlikely that a smooth change in some of the pathways will 
be delivered in the next nine months. Consideration might be given to 
exploring the possibility of re-negotiating visit timetables with CQC and TDA 
as there is a distinct impression that the Trust senior managers are 
understandably spending a huge amount of time preparing for successive 
visits/inspections and fire fighting operational issues, possibly to the detriment 
of delivering on pathway changes. 
 

4. Reflecting on the senate review team visit there is a sense that the health 
economy is focusing  on solving the issue of the form of organisation (the 
acquisition) perhaps at the expense of getting properly functioning pathways 
in place (service models). This, linked to the timescales in para 3 above, may 
be skewing priorities. 
 

5. An approach to NHS England might be considered to see if there is any 
interest in developing highly innovative ways of tackling the recruitment and 
retention issues being experiences in both primary and secondary care. The 
more traditional approaches, including payment of premia, do not appear to 
have worked leaving Whitehaven and its surrounding population being 
serviced by large numbers of locum medical staff. An analysis of the NHS 
England five year plan might conclude that North Cumbria could pilot some 
highly innovative approaches to workforce development including vertical 
integration. 
 

Page 41



27 | P a g e  
 

6. The Trust might also want to re-examine its Human Resource support for 
medical staffing as references were made to this support having been 
withdrawn or about to be withdrawn, from Whitehaven. 
 

7. Lack of project plans and details – the late change in focus of the terms of 
reference for the visit was the right thing to do. Plans are not yet detailed 
enough to go through an assurance process. Indeed, some of the earlier 
changes to surgical pathways appear not to have been well effected with 
apparent lack of written pathways/protocols to help GPs. The role of the 
Programme Board in driving the detail around consistent data (the possible 
range in number of patients who will require to be transferred for each 
pathway), agreeing timelines for implementation and holding organisations to 
account for delivery, could usefully be revisited. 
 

8. Further work – As we move closer to the stage where clinical assurance is 
needed, the Senate Review Team would like to undertake the following 
further elements of work/analysis: 

i. To explore and understand  the implementation of high risk 
surgical pathways, to what extend the theme has been 
documented and communicated within Primary and Secondary 
Care. 

ii. To hold dialogue with NWAS regarding transport issues. 
iii. To hold dialogue with the Cumbria Partnership NHS Foundation 

Trust regarding rehabilitation. 
iv. To hold dialogue with the CCG about GP services in and around 

Whitehaven. 
 

9. The Senate Review Team, at the Clinical Assurance Stage would also 
anticipate being able to see all the proposed pathways fully documented with 
worked through protocols ready for communication across the  North 
Cumbrian health economy. The Senate Review Team would like to undertake 
a joint analysis with the CCG (as the commissioners of this review) of the 
2008 and 2011 public documents in preparation for the possible clinical 
assurance stage. Some initial analysis has been started. (Appendix 8)  

Page 42



28 | P a g e  
 

Appendix 1 
 

Appnedix 1.1 - 
finalc2hreport.pdf  

Appendix 1.2 - N 
Cumbria Secondary C      

Appendix 1.3 - Final 
Cumbria Local Health      
 

Appendix 1.4 - Final 
North Cumbria System   
 

Appnendix 1.5 - 
Trust paper.pdf  

  

Page 43



29 | P a g e  
 

Appendix 2 
 

Nigel Letter to Prof 
Andrew Cant 20 10 2 
  

Page 44



30 | P a g e  
 

Appendix 3 

SENATE CLINICAL 
REVIEW TOR for Cum 
 
  

Page 45



31 | P a g e  
 

Appendix 4 

Agenda  03 11 2014 
Pre-Brief Meeting.doc 

FINAL  timetable for 
clinical senate review  
  

Page 46



32 | P a g e  
 

Appendix 5 
Review Panel members 
 
Prof. Andrew Cant. Clinical Senate Chair 
After training in internal medicine, infectious 
diseases, paediatrics and neonatology at St 
George’s and Guy’s Hospitals in London, 
Professor Cant held a Medical Research 
Council Fellowship in immunology before 
completing his training in paediatric 
immunology and infectious diseases at the 
Hospital for Sick Children, Great Ormond 
Street, London and L’Hopital Necker, Paris.  
Professor Cant was appointed as a Consultant 
Paediatrician in Newcastle in 1990, to set up 1 
of 2 national referral centres for the 
treatment of children with severe 
immunological disorders, and a regional 
paediatric infectious diseases service In 1997 
Professor Cant became Clinical Director for 
Children’s Services within the Royal Victoria 
Infirmary.  He has led the development of the 
£100 million 244 bedded Great North 
Children’s Hospital (GNCH) which opened in 
2009 and was fully completed in late 2010.   
In 2006 Professor Cant led a national review 
of UK children’s specialist services on behalf 
of the RCPCH and the Children’s Commission 
for England, entitled, “Modelling the Future”.  
This survey highlighted current provision, 
defined need, proposed standards for 
networks From 2006 to 2009 Professor Cant 
was President of the European Society for 
Paediatric Infectious Diseases (ESPID).  
Professor Cant was Chair of the Medical 
Advisory Panel of the UK Primary 
Immunodeficiency Association from 1998 to 
2007; In 2005 he oversaw the national 
consensus document ‘Diagnosis and 
management of C1 inhibitor deficiency’  In 
2006 he led joint clinician/patient 
review/accreditation of primary 
immunodeficiency centres in the UK, setting 
and monitoring standards.   
From 2007 Professor Cant chaired the 
‘Children’s Clinical Network’ (initially the 
children’s work stream of ‘Our Vision, Our 
Future’) for the North East of England.  
Professor Cant is very much enjoying his new 
role as Chair of the Clinical Senate and is fully 

committed to lead the Senate’s work, serving 
the Clinical Commissioning Group, Clinical 
Networks and wider community, in giving 
clear strategic clinical advice, operational 
development, and to oversee coherent and 
effective senate arrangements in the North 
East, in a way that facilitates in achieving the 
best possible outcomes for patients and 
benefits to the health of the population as a 
whole. 
 
Dr. Chris Plummer, Consultant Cardiologist 
Dr Plummer trained in Bristol and Oxford 
Universities and undertook his post-graduate 
medical education in the Northern Deanery. 
He works as a consultant cardiologist in the 
Freeman Hospital where he is clinical lead for 
implantable cardiac rhythm devices. His other 
clinical and research interests include the 
cardiovascular effects of cancer treatments 
including the early detection of toxicity with 
biomarkers and protective strategies for 
adults and children. He is also heavily 
involved in all aspects of medical education 
from medical student interviews and exam 
setting to working as training programme 
director for cardiology. 
 
Dr Jon Scott BMedSci BM BS FRCP MD 
Dr Scott graduated from the University of 
Nottingham in 1992 and after postgraduate 
training in various hospitals around the North 
East was appointed as a Consultant in Elderly 
Care/General Medicine with a Specialist 
Interest in Stroke Medicine at South Tyneside 
Hospital in 2003. 
In addition to leading on Trust stroke and TIA 
services, Dr Scott is one of 4 Consultant Acute 
Physicians within the Trust working on the 
Emergency Assessment Unit and shares 
responsibility for elderly care in-patient 
services. 
Dr Scott was appointed as one of 2 clinical 
advisors for stroke to the Northern 
Cardiovascular Network between July 2008 
and April 2012. 
From an educational point of view, Dr Scott 
served as Foundation Programme Tutor for 

Page 47



33 | P a g e  
 

the Trust between 2006 and 2013 before 
being appointed to the role of Foundation 
School Director for Health Education North 
East. 
He maintains an active interest in teaching as 
a Clinical Lecturer for the Wear Base Unit of 
the University of Newcastle and in research, 
supervising recruitment into a number of 
stroke trials. 
Dr Scott was appointed to the Northern 
Clinical Senate in 2013. 

Dr. Mark Hudson, Consultant Herpetologist 
& Gastroenterologist 
Mark Hudson is the current President of the 
British Association for the Study of the Liver 
(BASL). He was appointed Consultant 
Hepatologist & Gastroenterologist in 1995, 
Freeman hospital, Newcastle upon Tyne 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust Dr Hudson is 
the Chair of the North East & North Cumbria 
Hepatology  Network and a member of the 
Northern Senate Council.

Dr. Robin Mitchell, Clinical Director, 
Strategic Clinical Networks 
Dr Robin Mitchell graduated in medicine from 
the University of Edinburgh in 1980. He 
undertook training in Anaesthesia and 
Intensive Care in Edinburgh and Leicester.  In 
1989 he was appointed as Consultant 
Anaesthetist in Durham, and subsequently 
undertook the roles of College Tutor and 
Clinical Director. He maintained a wide range 
of clinical interests including obstetric 
anaesthesia and intensive care medicine.  He 
was a member of the project team for the 
development of the new North Durham 
Hospital, and was chair of the Durham and 
Tees Clinical Advisory Group for maternity 
and children’s services in 2012-13. Dr Mitchell 
was Director of Medical Services for North 
Durham Acute Hospitals Trust from 1996 to 
2000, and Executive Medical Director for 
County Durham and Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust from 2010 to 2013. In 2013 
he took up the role of Clinical Director for 
Northern England Strategic Clinical 
Networks. He has a keen interest in patient 
safety and service design. 
 
Mr. Paul Fell, Consultant Paramedic 
Paul was appointed as the Consultant 
Paramedic in November 2013, prior to this 
appointment Paul was the Head of Clinical 
Care and Patient Safety for the Trust, Paul 
specialises in education and training as well as 
Research and Development for the Trust and 
has a specific interest in advanced pre-
hospital care. 

 
Dr. Andy Simpson,  MBBS, FRCS(Ed), 
FCEM, DCH, Dip Clin Ed. 
Qualified in 1988 Consultant in Emergency 
Medicine since 1999 initially in Hartlepool 
then Jointly with University Hospital of North 
Tees until Hartlepool A&E closed in 2011. 
Clinical Director of Emergency Care for North 
Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust 
since 2006. Specific interests are Paediatric 
Emergency Medicine and Medical Education 
 
Dr. Phil Adams 
Clinical medicine, junior training posts 
Newcastle. Cardiology training Newcastle 
and Mount Sinai, New York, British-American 
Research Fellowship. Consultant cardiologist 
Royal Victoria Infirmary, Newcastle, 1987 to 
2012. Research: acute coronary syndromes, 
amiodarone, prognosis CAD. NICE chest pain 
guideline group, chair of MI Secondary 
Prevention Update committee. Clinical 
Director Newcastle Cardiology ’03-’07, chair 
Northern Network ’08-’09.   
 
Dr. Lesley Kay 
Lesley Kay is a consultant rheumatologist and 
clinical director for patient safety and quality 
at The Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust. She trained in 
rheumatology and public health in the North 
East and Cambridge and did her 
undergraduate training in Oxford. Her clinical 
and research interests are in inflammatory 
arthritis, particularly ankylosing spondylitis, in 
national registers, education research and 
patient experience as well as clinical trials.  
 
Mrs. Hilary Lloyd 
Hilary Lloyd is the Director of Nursing, 
Midwifery and Quality and the Joint Director 

Page 48



34 | P a g e  
 

of Infection Prevention and Control at 
Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust. She 
took up the role in September 2014, after 
three years working as the Deputy Director of 
Nursing, Midwifery and Quality also at the QE 
Gateshead. 
Hilary first joined QE Gateshead in 2011 and 
has expert nursing knowledge, broad range of 
clinical experience, including stroke care, and 
a track record of excellent leadership. She has 
been a member of the Northern Clinical 
Senate for 12 months. 
Hilary has previously worked as Head of 
Nursing Development and Principal Lecturer 
at City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation 
Trust and as a Senior Lecturer at the 
University of Sunderland. She a qualified as a 
nurse in 1989 from Bede School of Nursing in 
Sunderland. She has a BA (Hons) in Sociology 
and Psychology, a MSc in Advanced Practice 
and is currently studying for a professional 
doctorate in nursing practice. 
She has several academic publications, 
including a text book on Nursing: Vital Notes 
on Principles of Care in 2009.  

Mrs. Lynda Dearden 
Lynda Dearden is the Network Manager for 

the Maternity and Child Health Strategic 
Clinical Network (NESCN) She also covers a 
programme of work around long term 
conditions and end of life care. Lynda has 
worked in the  NHS for over 30 years, in a 
variety of clinical settings and senior 
management roles.  She is also the acting 
Manager for Northern Clinical Senate.  

Mr. Roy McLachlan, Associate Director, 
Strategic Clinical Networks and Senate 
Roy joined the NECN in February 2009 on 
secondment from Northumberland, Tyne and 
Wear NHS Trust where he was Chief 
Operating Officer.  Prior to that he was Chief 
Executive of a number of NHS statutory 
bodies - NHS Trusts, a Health Authority and a 
Primary Care Trust. He has spent most of his 
managerial career working in the North East 
but started working in Scotland on the 
graduate scheme having completed an M.A. 
in French at St. Andrews University. He 
subsequently became one of the first NHS 
managers in the North East to undertake an 
M.B.A. Roy has been the Associate Director 
of the SCN since April 2013. 

   

Page 49



35 | P a g e  
 

Appendix 6 
Glossary of Acronyms 

 
A&E Accidents and Emergency 
ACS Acute coronary syndrome 
AHP Allied Health Professional 
BCIS British Cardiovascular Intervention Society 
CCG Clinical Commissioning Group 
CE Chief Executive 
CEO Chief Executive Officer 
CIC Cumberland Infirmary ,Carlisle 
CQC Care Quality Commission 
DTN Door To Needle 
ECG Echo Cardiogram 
ED Emergency Department 
GI Bleed Gastrointestinal Bleed 
GP General Practitioner 
GRACE Global Registry in Acute Coronary Events 
HR<40 Heart Rate 
LV Left Ventricular 
MI Myocardial Infarction 
MINAP Myocardial Ischaemia National Audit Project 
NCOR National Institute for Cardiovascular Outcomes Research 
NCUHT North Cumbria University Hospital Trust 
NEWS National Early Warning Score 
NICE National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 
NICOR National Institute for Cardiovascular Outcomes Research 
NSTEMI non-ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction 
NWAS North West Ambulance Service 
OOH Out of Hospital  
OSC Overseas Scrutiny Committee 
PCI Primary Cardiac Intervention 
PCI Percutaneous Coronary Intervention 
PIC Primary Coronary Intervention 
PPCI Primary Percutaneous Coronary Intervention (Primary Angena) 
SBAR Situation-Background-Assessment-Recommendation 
SSNAP Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme 
STEMI ST segment elevation myocardial infarction 
TDA Trust Development Authority 
TIA Transient ischaemic attack 
TIMI Thrombolysis in Myocardial Infarction 
UGI Upper Gastrointestinal  
UHNC University Hospital North Cumbria 
UK United Kingdom 
 
  

Page 50



36 | P a g e  
 

Appendix 7 
Clinical Senate Review Framework 
 

Clinical Senate Single 
Operating Framework   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 51



37 | P a g e  
 

 
Appendix 8 

APPENDIX 8.pdf

 
  

Page 52



38 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Contact Details 
Northern Clinical Senate Office 
Waterfront 4 
Goldcrest Way 
Newburn Riverside 
Newcastle upon Tyne 
NE15 8NY 
Tel: 0113 825 3039 
Email: england.northernclinicalsenate@nhs.net 
Web: www. nesenate.nhs.uk 
Senate Chair : Prof. Andrew Cant (Contact: gale.roberts@nuth.nhs.uk) 
Senate Manager: Lynda Dearden (Contact: Lynda.dearden@nhs.net) 
Senate PA: Seema Srihari (Contact: seemasrihari@nhs.net) 

Page 53

mailto:england.northernclinicalsenate@nhs.net
mailto:gale.roberts@nuth.nhs.uk
mailto:Lynda.dearden@nhs.net
mailto:seemasrihari@nhs.net


This page is intentionally left blank



23 01 2015       

Nigel McGuire 
CEO 
Cumbria CCG 
 
Dear Nigel 
 
Senate Review of High Risk Pathways in North Cumbria 
 
Thank you for sending supplementary information regarding the pathways for cardiac and 
upper GI bleeds. We shared the information with our specialist reviewers and the following 
points were made by them. 
1) They sought confirmation that ECGs were taken in ambulances for patients with suspected 

MIs, and sent by wireless transfer to the Cardiology Unit. 
2) They sought confirmation that ECGs were recorded in the ambulances and if diagnostic of 

a cardiac event, that patients were taken straight to Carlisle without going to Whitehaven 
en route, including those patients from south of Whitehaven. 

3) They asked for clarification about the hours during which Cardiology advice is 
available.  The pathway document quotes 0900 hrs to 1700 hrs, the letter from Les Morgan 
and the assurance given verbally suggested this was 24 hours a day. 

I have, therefore, discussed these issues in a telephone call with David Rogers who was 
unsure about the ECG wireless transfer system and he was going to seek clarification about 
this and also whether NWAS have a divert which includes patients south of Whitehaven. David 
was also able to confirm that Les Morgan has clarified that the on call cardiologist is available 
for advice 24 hours a day, seven days a week. 
 
My purpose in writing, therefore, is to give Cumbria Clinical Commissioning Group assurance 
that, subject to these issues being satisfactorily clarified, the changes to these pathways can 
be implemented at a point to be agreed between the CCG and the Trust. In doing this, the 
Senate Review Team is assuming that all other outstanding issues between the CCG and the 
Trust have also been satisfactorily resolved. 
I look forward to seeing further information in due course on the remaining three pathways. 
 
Yours Sincerely, 

 
 
Professor Andrew Cant 
Chair 
Northern Clinical Senate 
 

 
Waterfront 4,  Goldcrest Way 

Newcastle upon Tyne 
NE15 8NY 

Senate Office: 011382 53039 

 

Page 55



 

Page 56


	Agenda
	5 PROPOSED CHANGES TO CARDIAC AND UPPER GASTROINTESTINAL BLEED PATHWAYS IN NORTH CUMBRIA
	Item 5 Attach 1
	Review Panel members
	Prof. Andrew Cant. Clinical Senate Chair
	Dr. Chris Plummer, Consultant Cardiologist
	Dr Jon Scott BMedSci BM BS FRCP MD
	Dr. Mark Hudson, Consultant Herpetologist & Gastroenterologist
	Dr. Robin Mitchell, Clinical Director, Strategic Clinical Networks
	Mr. Paul Fell, Consultant Paramedic
	Dr. Andy Simpson,  MBBS, FRCS(Ed), FCEM, DCH, Dip Clin Ed.
	Dr. Phil Adams
	Dr. Lesley Kay
	Mrs. Hilary Lloyd
	Mrs. Lynda Dearden
	Mr. Roy McLachlan, Associate Director, Strategic Clinical Networks and Senate

	Item 5 Attach 2


